



BONE

Bone xx (2008) xxx-xxx

www.elsevier.com/locate/bone

Review

Osteonecrosis of the jaw and bisphosphonate treatment for osteoporosis

René Rizzoli^{a,*}, Nansa Burlet^b, David Cahall^c, Pierre D. Delmas^d, Erik Fink Eriksen^e, Dieter Felsenberg^f, John Grbic^g, Mats Jontell^h, Regina Landesberg^g, Andrea Laslopⁱ, Martina Wollenhaupt^j, Socrates Papapoulos^k, Orhan Sezer^f, Michael Sprafka¹, Jean-Yves Reginster^m

^a University Hospital and Faculty of Medicine, Geneva, Switzerland
^b International Osteoporosis Foundation, Nyon, Switzerland
^c Sanofi-Aventis, Bridgewater, NJ, USA
^d University Claude Bernard Lyon 1 and INSERM Research Unit 831, Lyon, France
^e Novartis Pharma AG, Basel, Switzerland
^f Charité-Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany
^g Columbia University, New York, USA
^h Goteborg University, Goteborg, Sweden
ⁱ AGES PharmMed, Vienna, Austria
^j Roche, Basel, Switzerland
^k Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands
¹ Procter and Gamble Pharmaceuticals, Cincinnati, Ohio, USA

Received 24 October 2007; revised 19 December 2007; accepted 8 January 2008

Abstract

A potential side effect associated with bisphosphonates, a class of drugs used in the treatment of osteoporosis, Paget's disease and metastatic bone disease, is osteonecrosis of the jaw (ONJ). The incidence of ONJ in the general population is unknown; this rare condition also may occur in patients not receiving bisphosphonates. Case reports have discussed ONJ development in patients with multiple myeloma or metastatic breast cancer receiving bisphosphonates as palliation for bone metastases. These patients are also receiving chemotherapeutic agents that might impair the immune system and affect angiogenesis. The incidence or prevalence of ONJ in patients taking bisphosphonates for osteoporosis seems to be very rare. No causative relationship has been unequivocally demonstrated between ONJ and bisphosphonate therapy. A majority of ONJ occurs after tooth extraction. Furthermore, the underlying risk of developing ONJ may be increased in osteoporotic patients by comorbid diseases. Treatment for ONJ is generally conservative. © 2008 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Bisphosphonates; Osteoporosis; Osteonecrosis; Bone turnover; Metastases

Contents

Introduction	0
Methods.	0
Definition of osteonecrosis of the jaw	0
Epidemiology	0

* Corresponding author. Division of Bone Diseases, World Health Organization Collaborating Center for Osteoporosis Prevention, Department of Rehabilitation and Geriatrics, Geneva University Hospital and Faculty of Medicine, 1211 Geneva 14, Switzerland. Fax: +4122 382 99 73.

E-mail address: Rene.Rizzoli@medecine.unige.ch (R. Rizzoli).

 $^{8756\}text{-}3282/\$$ - see front matter @ 2008 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2008.01.003

R. Rizzoli et al. / Bone xx (2008) xxx-xxx

Pathogenesis.	. 0
Alterations in angiogenesis	. 0
Alterations in bone turnover	. 0
Infection	. 0
Risk factors for osteonecrosis of the jaw development	. 0
Radiologic assessment of osteonecrosis of the jaw	. 0
Assessment of bone function (metabolic activity)	. 0
Assessment of bone morphology (non-invasive imaging)	. 0
Recommended assessment procedure for osteonecrosis of the jaw	. 0
General management of ONJ in patients with osteoporosis (Fig. 1)	. 0
Conclusions	. 0
Conflict of interest	. 0
References	. 0

Introduction

Bisphosphonates are a class of drugs used in the treatment of osteoporosis, Paget's disease and metastatic bone disease. A potential side effect associated with bisphosphonates is osteonecrosis of the jaw (ONJ), a rare condition of unknown incidence in the general population that has also been known to occur in patients not receiving bisphosphonates.

Most publications in the literature relating to ONJ are based on empirical data and consensus. To date, little evidence-based data concerning ONJ are available, with the majority coming from the oncology setting. Few data are available from patients receiving bisphosphonate therapy for osteoporosis.

On 14th December, 2006, a Working Group meeting was convened in Geneva, Switzerland, by the European Society on Clinical and Economic Aspects of Osteoporosis and by the Foundation for Research on Osteoporosis and other Bone Diseases. The meeting focused on the impact of ONJ on the management of osteoporosis, and the outcomes from the meeting are presented in this paper.

Methods

An extensive literature search of various medical databases (e.g. Medline, Embase, Cochrane reviews) (keywords: bisphosphonates, cancer, malignancies, osteonecrosis, jaw, osteoporosis, adverse reactions) identified relevant papers published in English between January 1995 and July 2006. Key experts from various areas (i.e. orthopaedic surgery, dental and maxillofacial surgery, epidemiology, health economics, oral pathology, endocrinology, rheumatology, primary care and physical medicine and rehabilitation, together with representatives from industry) were identified based on this literature search and invited to a consensus experts meeting (funded by the European Society for Clinical and Economic Aspects of Osteoporosis and Osteoarthritis [ESCEO]) to produce the current consensus document.

Definition of osteonecrosis of the jaw

A universally agreed definition for ONJ has not been established to date. Inevitably, the absence of a consensus definition has resulted in confusion with respect to what constitutes ONJ, and how to diagnose the condition. Marx and Stern first described ONJ associated with bisphosphonate use in 2002 [1]. The definition has continued to evolve and updated versions have been published, most recently by the American Dental Association [2] and by Ruggiero et al. [3]. The American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons has also recently published a staging system for ONJ and corresponding treatment strategies for each stage [4]. An ASBMR multidisciplinary task force has recently extensively reviewed all published data issued recommendations [5]. Our Working Group endorsed the following definition for ONJ: "exposed bone in the mandible, maxilla or both that persists for at least 8 weeks, in the absence of previous radiation and of metastases in the jaws".

Epidemiology

During the past 3 years, a number of reports have discussed ONJ associated with the use of bisphosphonates. These case reports and case series describe patients with multiple myeloma or metastatic breast cancer receiving high doses intravenous bisphosphonates (primarily pamidronate and zoledronic acid) as adjunctive therapy. Only few of these reports discuss patients receiving oral bisphosphonates for the treatment of osteoporosis, Paget's disease or other skeletal disorders. In total, 12 papers have been identified that contain information on ONJ among patients receiving oral bisphosphonates [6-17]. Among these reports, 443 patients were identified with ONJ, with 50 receiving oral bisphosphonates for the treatment of osteoporosis or osteopenia, and 4 patients administered bisphosphonates for the treatment of Paget's disease (47 patients were taking alendronate, 5 risedronate and 2 were taking alendronate/risedronate). A case series involving 63 patients with osteomyelitis or ONJ reported that 7 of these patients were receiving oral bisphosphonates, without any history of malignant disease or exposure to chemotherapy.[16] Among several million patients with osteoporosis who have received oral bisphosphonate therapy, 50 ONJ events have been reported [18]. A German registry of ONJ has included more than 300 case reports, 189 of which have been evaluated to date [19]. Among these patients, only 3 were reported to be taking an oral bisphosphonate (alendronate).

Spontaneous reports of ONJ submitted to manufacturers of bisphosphonates indicate a reporting rate of approximately 1 event per 100,000 person–years of exposure for oral bisphosphonates [20]. These data should, however, be interpreted with caution, as these reports are not adjudicated and information required to classify these cases properly (e.g. medical history, concomitant medication, duration of exposure, etc.) is largely unavailable. More recently were reported 36 cases (with details in 26 of them) in Australia and 9 cases in Israel, most with oral alendronate [11,21]. In the former report, based on the estimated oral bisphosphonates sales, the frequency of ONJ could be as high as 1 event per 20,000 person–years. On the other hand, data from clinical trials of nitrogen-containing bisphosphonates analysing >60,000 patient–years of exposure found no evidence of ONJ among adverse events reported [20]. The type of study (retrospective vs prospective), inconsistent definition of ONJ, as well as a possible lack of adjudication can contribute to the large range of incidence estimates.

The limited data in the literature show that ONJ is much less common among patients administered oral bisphosphonates at the lower doses used for osteoporosis compared with patients who receive higher doses used for metastatic cancer. Underlying diseases, cancer therapy and possible impaired immunity further distinguish the latter patients from osteoporotic ones. Two cases of ONJ were reported as a complication of chemotherapy in 1982, hence before the era of bisphosphonates [22]. No conclusive data on the incidence or prevalence of ONJ in

patients taking oral bisphosphonates for osteoporosis are available currently [18,23]. As a result, the degree of risk for ONJ in these patients is not certain and patients should therefore be monitored carefully [18]. Overall, no epidemiologic data on the incidence of ONJ in the general population are available. The fact that no specific diagnostic code for this condition has been produced limits the conduct of retrospective observational designs to assess this condition and its potential risk factors.

Pathogenesis

Several pathogenic mechanisms for ONJ have been proposed. One of the proposed mechanisms suggests that ONJ can be caused by bisphosphonateinduced low bone turnover, which leads to decreased blood flow, bone cell necrosis and apoptosis [16,24]. In conjunction with infection, this leads to the development of exposed, non-healing bone areas in the mouth [16,24], which may be thought of as an 'inside-out' process. However, the available data would suggest an 'outside-in' process as more likely, in which mucosal damage is the event preceding infection and subsequent bone necrosis. For example, a retrospective chart review of oncology patients (n=4000) treated with bisphosphonates (many of whom were also receiving other chemotherapeutic agents) suggested that mucosal damage was an important precipitating factor [25]. Tooth extractions were the dominating event preceding ONJ although other causes, such as periodontal disease, dental implant procedures, exostoses and ill-fitting dentures, were also reported as preceding ONJ.

Delayed epithelialization may result in exposed bone that, in the presence of oral bacteria, increases the risk of infection. Reid et al. have suggested that bisphosphonates may contribute to the pathogenesis of ONJ by being toxic to oral epithelium at pharmacologic concentrations [26]. A number of disease states (e.g. diabetes, human immunodeficiency virus infection) also predispose patients to becoming immunocompromised, which results in delayed healing and reduced ability to combat opportunistic infections. Therapy with steroids and cytostatic agents can delay wound healing, and interfere with wound epithelialization. The combination of compromised immunity and medications which can affect wound healing suggests that a multifactorial model is required to explain the pathogenesis of ONJ. In contrast, bisphosphonates have also been shown to stimulate gammadelta T cells, potentially contributing to cytotxicity against tumor cells [27].

Alterations in angiogenesis

Osteonecrosis is reported most commonly in the hip or knee, and is not associated with infection at these sites. More accurately, it is termed avascular (or aseptic) necrosis and results from an interruption or compromise of the blood supply as a result of trauma, coagulopathy or corticosteroids. However, no case of ONJ has been reported in these disorders. Furthermore, there is no evidence to suggest that ONJ is a form of avascular necrosis since bacteria are always present.

Recently, several publications using *in vitro* or animal models have reported the possibility of angiogenesis inhibition by bisphosphonates [28–31]. This effect appears to be mediated primarily through inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor and other angiogenic factors, which may be an underlying mechanism of ONJ. In contrast, in normal bone, zoledronic acid appears to have no inhibitory effect on angiogenesis-dependent processes [29–35], and data from an animal model have also shown that strong inhibition of bone resorption by bisphosphonate did not affect angiogenesis [33,36].

Alterations in bone turnover

Studies in animals and humans have consistently shown the effectiveness of bisphosphonates in decreasing the rate at which bone is remodeled [37]. However, in animal models of periodontal disease, bisphosphonate treatment is not associated with ONJ, despite interventions such as tooth ligation and inoculation of pathogenic bacteria [34–42]. The few published histological studies of ONJ [42–44] show vital cells and bone in more than half the patients, which suggests a lack of necrosis; however, it is unclear how representative such biopsies are. Further evidence against a key role for low bone turnover in the pathogenesis of ONJ is the pronounced uptake of bone-seeking isotopes on scintigraphic imaging of ONJ lesions [23,45]. Low uptake of isotope has been reported only in a few cases of late-stage ONJ [23].

Infection

Complaints in mouth and teeth

Infection is a dominating component of ONJ and a pronounced overlap between jaw osteomyelitis and osteonecrosis exists. The background risk of jaw osteomyelitis is 4 events per 100,000 people, which is similar to the prevalence rates cited in several studies on nononcology ONJ. The histological studies on ONJ in the literature have all shown pronounced inflammatory changes. Specific staining for bacteria typically reveals *Actinomyces* [43], although this common



bisphosphonate treatment interruption for 8 weeks might be considered

Fig. 1. Management algorithm for patients under bisphosphonate therapy. *Inflammation, bone turnover marker, blood cell count. ONJ, osteonecrosis of the jaw; OPG, orthopantomography; CT, computed tomography; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging.

oral organism may be found as a consequence of the lesion rather than as an initiating factor. Bacterial analysis of ONJ is limited, however, and more studies are needed to determine whether anaerobic bacteria, such as those involved in periodontal disease, are concerned. Indeed, a large retrospective chart review has shown that a significant proportion of patients with ONJ have periodontal disease, which suggests these bacteria may indeed play a role [25]. On the other hand, bisphosphonates have shown to favorably influence the outcome of periodontal disease [46]. The function of infection in the pathogenesis of ONJ is further supported by reports of ONJ lesions improving after antibiotic treatment.

In summary, ONJ could be viewed as an alteration of normal wound healing in which "delayed" epithelial closure of an opening in the oral mucosa leads to an infection and subsequent necrosis of the bone. Multiple factors, including the patient's immunocompetence and the use of drugs (bisphosphonates, steroids) which impair wound closure may contribute to the pathogenesis.

Risk factors for osteonecrosis of the jaw development

To date, no clinical studies have systematically investigated risk factors for the development of ONJ in osteoporotic patients treated with oral bisphosphonates, which may possibly be a result of the low incidence of the condition. Thus, risk factors for this patient group have not been identified and remain speculative. It has been suggested that the underlying risk of developing ONJ may be increased in patients with osteoporosis and comorbid diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis or diabetes [9]. Further risk factor may be the cumulative exposure. Reminiscent to risk factors present in cancer patients treated with IV bisphosphonates, extrapolation to the osteoporosis setting [10] would include invasive oral treatments involving bone exposure (e.g. tooth extraction, subgingival curettage, periapical and periodontal surgery), trauma where bone is exposed to the oral microflora and poor oral hygiene. In osteoporosis patients treated with bisphosphonates, high cumulative doses administered over a long time period may be a risk for an increased incidence of exposed bone. This was observed in 3 patients receiving alendronate in a case series of 119 patients [10].

Radiologic assessment of osteonecrosis of the jaw

Osteonecrosis of the jaw is characterized by exposed bone in the maxillofacial area (which can occur after dental intervention or spontaneously) which fails to heal after 8 weeks of appropriate care (AAMOS criteria). For accurate assessment, bone morphology, soft tissue (gingiva) and bone function require examination using various scanning techniques (Fig. 1).

Assessment of bone function (metabolic activity)

Bone scintigraphy. A useful screening tool for detecting local bone remodeling/ modeling activity is bone scintigraphy with Tc-99 methylene diphosphonate (MDP), which has high sensitivity but low specificity [47]. This technique aims to detect high bone turnover sites.

Positron emission tomography. Positron emission tomography with 2-(fluorine-18)-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose (FDG) is capable of noninvasively detecting osteomyelitis (acute and chronic) with a high degree of accuracy. Inflammatory cells, such as neutrophils and activated macrophages, present in areas of acute or chronic inflammation take up FDG as a result of increased glycolytic activity [48–50], and accumulation of FDG in this way is a useful indicator of inflammatory processes [51]. Indeed, data from clinical studies investigating FDG for the early diagnosis of avascular necrosis of the femoral head after fracture of the femoral neck [52,53] showed a decreased uptake of the radionuclide in femoral heads, which were subsequently shown to be necrotic. With time, radionuclide uptake increased, which was attributed to revascularization and repair.

Assessment of bone morphology (non-invasive imaging)

Panoramic radiography. Panoramic radiographs (orthopantomography [OPG]) are routinely used in clinical practice. They are widely available, time efficient, and show the complete oral cavity on a single view. Radiography cannot adequately distinguish between osteonecrosis and metastatic osteoblastic lesions, but is useful when a combination of osteolysis and osteosclerosis is present (osteosclerosis is found in chronic osteomyelitis). Orthopantomography detects woven bone

formations with periosteal thickening and marrow fibrosis, which cause the local bone area to increase in density. Typically, necrotic bone is characterized by a sequestrum positioned within pus or in the medullary cavity.

Disadvantages of OPG include the limited two-dimensional image. Moreover, the image quality may render difficult differentiating the margins between necrotic and healthy bone, with the result that early lesions can be missed. However, consensus suggests conventional radiographs should be used first-line as part of routine radiologic investigation [18].

Dental computed tomography. Computed tomography (CT) accurately detects alterations inside the bone, periosteal reactions and soft tissue alterations. CT avoids image distortions, such as those seen with OPG images, and provides excellent topographic anatomic illustration of the organ structure and pathologic findings. In patients with ONJ, CT can diagnose osteolytic and osteosclerotic regions, depending on the stage of the disease. More dense bone characterizes the necrotic area and more lytic areas illustrate the infected regions with pus and soft tissue swelling. The differentiation between malignant metastatic osteolysis and benign osteolysis may be difficult with CT.

Cone beam computed tomography. An alternative to CT, cone beam CT (CBCT) has gained increased acceptance as a three dimensional imaging modality [53,54], particularly in the maxillofacial bone area [55,56]. This is a relatively new technique that uses lower radiation dosages, and has a higher spatial resolution than conventional CT, providing improved image quality (especially for cancellous bone) [57,58]. Although discrimination of soft tissue may be limited as a result of a low contrast resolution, CBCT can provide detailed information about cortical thickness and integrity, marrow involvement, irregularities following tooth extraction, and cancellous bone density. CBCT is optimized for planning the placement of oral implants but not for diagnosis of ONJ.

Magnetic resonance imaging. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the jaw was used for identifying conditions related to the mandibular joint only, but modern techniques enable imaging of the bone marrow to illustrate the entire mandibula and maxilla, teeth, dental pulp, and even the mandibular canal. In patients with complicating clinical factors, fat-suppressed contrast-enhanced T1-weighted MRI has been shown to be significantly more sensitive than scintigraphy and significantly more specific than non-enhanced MRI or scintigraphy in diagnosing osteomyelitis [59].

Recommended assessment procedure for osteonecrosis of the jaw

The diagnosis of ONJ is made clinically if an oral lesion with exposed bone persists for more than 8 weeks. Lesions in patients who have had radiation therapy to the head and neck, or who have malignant disease within the jaw should be excluded from the diagnosis of ONJ. Radiological assessment should be used to confirm the diagnosis and its extent. The radiologic assessment of ONJ should incorporate the use of OPG or scintigraphy with MDP as first-line, with dental MRI or spiral dental CT, or CBCT (for bone only) used as more advanced approaches in cases that require further differential diagnosis.

General management of ONJ in patients with osteoporosis (Fig. 1)

A task force was established recently by the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research to address issues related to ONJ after an editorial in the *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* concluded that "there are insufficient data relating to the risk factors involved to allow construction of evidence-based guidelines for the prevention of ONJ in patients taking oral bisphosphonates for treatment of osteoporosis" [5,58]. Although normal oral health care including visits to the dentist for preventive care should be suggested as part of overall health care, no evidence suggests that any special dental treatment is necessary in osteoporotic patients treated with bisphosphonates. As the only data available on ONJ in patients with osteoporosis are from case reports, treatment of the condition is entirely empirical. As noted, no evidence-based guidelines are available, although numerous professional bodies have issued position statements and recommendations [2,4,5,59,60] and the primary focus of these position statements has been bisphosphonate use in oncology patients.

The treatment of osteoporosis patients who develop ONJ is empirical. There is no data to suggest that stopping bisphosphonate therapy would influence the course of the lesion. Similarly, delaying the onset of bisphosphonate treatment in

patients undergoing major dental surgery has been suggested. Though this position is not supported by an evidence-based risk/benefit assessment, it fits common sense.

The principle underlying treatment is one of conservative management, with recommendations for patients before treatment with bisphosphonates including: tooth treatment and full epithelial healing before beginning osteoporosis therapy; treating active oral infections and reducing the risk of infections, and routine dental care.

In patients already on bisphosphonate therapy in need of dental intervention, treatment should again be conservative, with concurrent antibiotic coverage. Although there is no scientific evidence for it, some have advocated interrupting bisphosphonate for a few weeks in case of dental surgery, a decision to be taken on a case by case basis. Patients who have developed ONJ during bisphosphonate treatment should be managed in a similar manner to that already described, with conservative treatment where possible. Where indicated, however, necrotic bone should be removed with minimal trauma to adjacent hard and soft tissue, and antibiotic therapy should be administered. Extensive oral surgical procedures should be avoided.

Conclusions

Data relating to ONJ development are currently lacking and diagnosis is based on clinical criteria, with management strategies that are generally conservative. The risk of developing ONJ in osteoporosis patients treated with bisphosphonates is low, with estimates suggesting an incidence of 1 event per 20,000 to 110,000 patient–years. Further complicating the incidence estimate is the fact that the background rate of ONJ in the general population is unknown. Whereas no conclusive data unequivocally link development of ONJ to bisphosphonate intake in osteoporosis, this association should not be understated and appropriate guidance should be provided to patients who express concerns about this issue.

Pathogenesis of ONJ lesions may involve other factors including inflammation and infection, or, less likely, inhibition of angiogenesis. Risk factors for ONJ have not been studied in details but are likely to include trauma to the oral cavity (particularly tooth extraction), use of immunosuppressive drugs, and comorbid conditions. No direct causative relationship has been demonstrated between ONJ and bisphosphonate therapy in patients with osteoporosis. Since the incidence of ONJ in osteoporosis patients appears to be very low, no specific dental management procedures are recommended in this condition.

Conflict of interest

René Rizzoli

Consulting fees or paid advisory boards: Servier, Novartis, Amgen, GlaxoSmithKline, Roche, Nycomed, Procter & Gamble. Lecture fees: Merck Sharp and Dohme, Lilly, Novartis, Servier, Roche, GlaxoSmithKline.

Grants: Novartis, Servier, Procter & Gamble.

David L. Cahall

Is a full-time employee of Sanofi-Aventis Pharmaceuticals. **Pierre Delmas**

Consulting fees or paid advisory boards: Acceleron, Amgen, Eli Lilly, GSK, MSD, Novartis, Nycomed, Organon, Pfizer, Procter & Gamble, Roche, Sanofi-Aventis, Servier, Wyeth, Zelos. Grants: Procter & Gamble, Eli Lilly, and Amgen. Erik F. Eriksen Is a full-time employee of Novartis.

Dieter Felsenberg

Consulting fees: Amgen, Bock, Merck, P&G, Lilly, Roche, Novartis.

Grants: Amgen, Chugai, Lilly, Merck, Novartis, Nycomed, Organon, P&G, Pfizer, Roche, Servier, Wyeth.

John T. Grbic

Consulting fees: Novartis, Stock Ownership (less than \$10,000) — Merck.

Regina Landesberg

Consulting fees: Novartis, Merck.

Martina Wollenhaupt

Is a full-time employee of F. Hoffmann-La Roche.

Socrates Papapoulos

Consulting fees: Merck & Co, Novartis, Procter & Gamble, Roche/GSK.

Grants: Merck Sharp & Dohme, Procter & Gamble.

Michael Sprafka

Is a full-time employee of Procter & Gamble Pharmaceuticals. Jean-Yves Reginster

Consulting fees or paid advisory boards: Servier, Novartis, Negma, Lilly, Wyeth, Amgen, GlaxoSmithKline, Roche, Merckle, Nycomed, NPS, Theramex.

Lecture fees: Merck Sharp and Dohme, Lilly, Rottapharm, IBSA, Genevrier, Novartis, Servier, Roche, GlaxoSmithKline, Teijin, Teva, Ebewee Pharma, Zodiac, Analis, Theramex, Nycomed, Novo-Nordisk.

Grants: Bristol Myers Squibb, Merck Sharp & Dohme, Rottapharm, Teva, Lilly, Novartis, Roche, GlaxoSmithKline, Amgen, Servier.

Nansa Burlet, Orhan Sezer, Andrea Laslop, Mats Jontell declared no conflict of interest related to this particular work. **Executive summary**

The executive summary of this report is freely available on the web at www.ecceo8.org/images/mail/osteonecrosis_jaw.pdf.

References

- Marx RE, Stern D, editors. Oral and maxillofacial pathology: a rationale for treatment. Hanover Park, IL: Quintessence Publishing; 2002.
- [2] American Dental Association Council on Scientific Affairs. Dental management of patients receiving oral bisphosphonate therapy: expert panel recommendations. J Am Dent Assoc 2006;137:1144–50.
- [3] Ruggiero SL, Fantasia J, Carlson E. Bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaw: background and guidelines for diagnosis, staging and management. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2006;102:433–41.
- [4] American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons, editor. Position paper on bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaws. Rosemont, IL: American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons; 2006.
- [5] Khosla S, Burr D, Cauley J, Dempster DW, Ebeling PR, Felsenberg D, Gagel RF, et al. Bisphosphonate-associated osteonecrosis of the jaw: report of a task force of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. J Bone Miner Res 2007;22:1479–91.
- [6] Bornstein MM, Oberli K, Stauffer E, Buser D. Bisphosphonate-associated osteonecrosis of the maxilla. Case report and review of the literature. Schweiz Monatsschr Zahnmed 2006;116:1035–47.
- [7] Carter G, Goss AN, Doecke C. Bisphosphonates and avascular necrosis of the jaw: a possible association. Med J Aust 2005;182:413–5.
- [8] Hoefert S, Eufinger H. Necrosis of the jaws under bisphosphonate therapy. Orthopade 2006;35:204–9.

6

ARTICLE IN PRESS

R. Rizzoli et al. / Bone xx (2008) xxx-xxx

- [9] Khamaisi M, Regev E, Yarom N, Avni B, Leitersdorf E, Raz I, Elad S. Possible association between diabetes and bisphosphonate-related jaw osteonecrosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007;92:1172–5.
- [10] Marx RE, Sawatari Y, Fortin M, Broumand V. Bisphosphonate-induced exposed bone (osteonecrosis/osteopetrosis) of the jaws: risk factors, recognition, prevention, and treatment. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2005;63: 1567–75.
- [11] Mavrokokki T, Cheng A, Stein B, Goss A. Nature and frequency of bisphosphonate-associated osteonecrosis of the jaws in Australia. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2007;65:415–23.
- [12] Merigo E, Manfredi M, Meleti M, Guidotti R, Ripasarti A, Zanzucchi E, D'Aleo P, et al. Bone necrosis of the jaws associated with bisphosphonate treatment: a report of twenty-nine cases. Acta Biomed 2006;77:109–17.
- [13] Migliorati CA, Schubert MM, Peterson DE, Seneda LM. Bisphosphonateassociated osteonecrosis of mandibular and maxillary bone: an emerging oral complication of supportive cancer therapy. Cancer 2005;104:83–93.
- [14] Nase JB, Suzuki JB. Osteonecrosis of the jaw and oral bisphosphonate treatment. J Am Dent Assoc 2006;137:1115–9 quiz 1169–70.
- [15] Purcell PM, Boyd IW. Bisphosphonates and osteonecrosis of the jaw. Med J Aust 2005;182:417–8.
- [16] Ruggiero SL, Mehrotra B, Rosenberg TJ, Engroff SL. Osteonecrosis of the jaws associated with the use of bisphosphonates: a review of 63 cases. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2004;62:527–34.
- [17] Yeo AC, Lye KW, Poon CY. Bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaws. Singapore Dent J 2005;27:36–40.
- [18] Woo SB, Hellstein JW, Kalmar JR. Narrative [corrected] review: bisphosphonates and osteonecrosis of the jaws. Ann Intern Med 2006;144:753–61.
- [19] Felsenberg D, Hoffmeister B, Amling M, Mundlos S, Fratzl P. Kiefernekrosen nach hoch dosierter Bisphosphonattherapie. Dtsch Arztebl 2006;103:A3078–80.
- [20] Bilezikian JP. Osteonecrosis of the jaw do bisphosphonates pose a risk? N Engl J Med 2006;355:2278–81.
- [21] Yarom N, Yahalom R, Shoshani Y, Hamed W, Regev E, Elad S. Osteonecrosis of the jaw induced by orally administered bisphosphonates: incidence, clinical features, predisposing factors and treatment outcome. Osteoporos Int 2007;18: 1363–70.
- [22] Schwartz HC. Osteonecrosis of the jaws: a complication of cancer chemotherapy. Head Neck Surg 1982;4:251–3.
- [23] Woo SB, Hellstein JW, Kalmar JR. Bisphosphonates and osteonecrosis of the jaw: in response. Ann Intern Med 2006;145:792.
- [24] Marx RE. Pamidronate (Aredia) and zoledronate (Zometa) induced avascular necrosis of the jaws: a growing epidemic. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2003;61: 1115–7.
- [25] Hoff AO, Toth B, Altundag K, Guarneri V, Nooka A, Desrouleaux K, Klein M, et al. Osteonecrosis of the jaw in patients receiving intravenous bisphosphonates. J Bone Miner Res 2005;20:S55.
- [26] Reid IR, Bolland MJ, Grey AB. Is bisphosphonate-associated osteonecrosis of the jaw caused by soft tissue toxicity? Bone 2007;41:318–20.
- [27] Clezardin P, Fournier P, Boissier S, Peyruchaud O. In vitro and in vivo antitumor effects of bisphosphonates. Curr Med Chem 2003;10:173–80.
- [28] Croucher P, Jagdev S, Coleman R. The anti-tumor potential of zoledronic acid. Breast 2003;12(Suppl 2):S30–6.
- [29] Deckers MM, van Bezooijen RL, van der Horst G, Hoogendam J, van Der Bent C, Papapoulos SE, Lowik CW. Bone morphogenetic proteins stimulate angiogenesis through osteoblast-derived vascular endothelial growth factor A. Endocrinology 2002;143:1545–53.
- [30] Giraudo E, Inoue M, Hanahan D. An amino-bisphosphonate targets MMP-9expressing macrophages and angiogenesis to impair cervical carcinogenesis. J Clin Invest 2004;114:623–33.
- [31] Hunziker EB. Articular cartilage repair: problems and perspectives. Biorheology 2000;37:163–4.
- [32] Brunsvold MA, Chaves ES, Kornman KS, Aufdemorte TB, Wood R. Effects of a bisphosphonate on experimental periodontitis in monkeys. J Periodontol 1992;63:825–30.
- [33] Deckers MM, Van Beek ER, Van Der Pluijm G, Wetterwald A, Van Der Wee-Pals L, Cecchini MG, Papapoulos SE, et al. Dissociation of angiogenesis and osteoclastogenesis during endochondral bone formation in neonatal mice. J Bone Miner Res 2002;17:998–1007.

- [34] Gerber HP, Vu TH, Ryan AM, Kowalski J, Werb Z, Ferrara N. VEGF couples hypertrophic cartilage remodeling, ossification and angiogenesis during endochondral bone formation. Nat Med 1999;5: 623–8.
- [35] Parfitt AM. The mechanism of coupling: a role for the vasculature. Bone 2000;26:319–23.
- [36] Weinreb M, Quartuccio H, Seedor JG, Aufdemorte TB, Brunsvold M, Chaves E, Kornman KS, et al. Histomorphometrical analysis of the effects of the bisphosphonate alendronate on bone loss caused by experimental periodontitis in monkeys. J Periodontal Res 1994;29:35–40.
- [37] Mundy GR, Yoneda T, Hiraga T. Preclinical studies with zoledronic acid and other bisphosphonates: impact on the bone microenvironment. Semin Oncol 2001;28:35–44.
- [38] Clemons MJ, Dranitsaris G, Ooi WS, Yogendran G, Sukovic T, Wong BY, Verma S, et al. Phase II trial evaluating the palliative benefit of second-line zoledronic acid in breast cancer patients with either a skeletal-related event or progressive bone metastases despite first-line bisphosphonate therapy. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:4895–900.
- [39] Coleman RE, Major P, Lipton A, Brown JE, Lee KA, Smith M, Saad F, et al. Predictive value of bone resorption and formation markers in cancer patients with bone metastases receiving the bisphosphonate zoledronic acid. J Clin Oncol 2005;23:4925–35.
- [40] Reddy MS, Weatherford 3rd TW, Smith CA, West BD, Jeffcoat MK, Jacks TM. Alendronate treatment of naturally-occurring periodontitis in beagle dogs. J Periodontol 1995;66:211–7.
- [41] Shibutani T, Inuduka A, Horiki I, Luan Q, Iwayama Y. Bisphosphonate inhibits alveolar bone resorption in experimentally-induced peri-implantitis in dogs. Clin Oral Implants Res 2001;12:109–14.
- [42] Shoji K, Horiuchi H, Shinoda H. Inhibitory effects of a bisphosphonate (risedronate) on experimental periodontitis in rats. J Periodontal Res 1995;30: 277–84.
- [43] Chiandussi S, Biasotto M, Dore F, Cavalli F, Cova MA, Di Lenarda R. Clinical and diagnostic imaging of bisphosphonate-associated osteonecrosis of the jaws. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2006;35:236–43.
- [44] Hansen T, Kunkel M, Weber A, James Kirkpatrick C. Osteonecrosis of the jaws in patients treated with bisphosphonates — histomorphologic analysis in comparison with infected osteoradionecrosis. J Oral Pathol Med 2006;35: 155–60.
- [45] Grey A, Cundy T. Bisphosphonates and osteonecrosis of the jaw. Ann Intern Med 2006;145:791 author reply 792.
- [46] Lane N, Armitage GC, Loomer P, Hsieh S, Majumdar S, Wang HY, Jeffcoat M, et al. Bisphosphonate therapy improves the outcome of conventional periodontal treatment: results of a 12-month, randomized, placebo-controlled study. J Periodontol 2005;76:1113–22.
- [47] Wutzl A, Eisenmenger G, Hoffmann M, Czerny C, Moser D, Pietschmann P, Ewers R, et al. Osteonecrosis of the jaws and bisphosphonate treatment in cancer patients. Wien Klin Wochenschr 2006;118:473–8.
- [48] Borregaard N, Herlin T. Energy metabolism of human neutrophils during phagocytosis. J Clin Invest 1982;70:550–7.
- [49] D'Ambrosia RD, Riggins RS, DeNardo SJ, DeNardo GL. Fluoride-18 scintigraphy in avascular necrotic disorders of bone. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1975:146–55.
- [50] Palmer WE, Rosenthal DI, Schoenberg OI, Fischman AJ, Simon LS, Rubin RH, Polisson RP. Quantification of inflammation in the wrist with gadolinium-enhanced MR imaging and PET with 2-[F-18]-fluoro-2deoxy-D-glucose. Radiology 1995;196:647–55.
- [51] Stadalnik RC, Riggins RL, D'Ambrosia R, DeNardo GL. Vascularity of the femoral head: 18fluorine scintigraphy validated with tetracycline labeling. Radiology 1975;114:663–6.
- [52] Heiland M, Schulze D, Rother U, Schmelzle R. Postoperative imaging of zygomaticomaxillary complex fractures using digital volume tomography. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2004;62:1387–91.
- [53] Sukovic P. Cone beam computed tomography in craniofacial imaging. Orthod Craniofac Res 2003;6(Suppl 1):31–6 discussion 179–82.
- [54] Hashimoto K, Arai Y, Iwai K, Araki M, Kawashima S, Terakado M. A comparison of a new limited cone beam computed tomography machine for dental use with a multidetector row helical CT machine. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2003;95:371–7.

R. Rizzoli et al. / Bone xx (2008) xxx-xxx

- [55] Guerrero ME, Jacobs R, Loubele M, Schutyser F, Suetens P, van Steenberghe D. State-of-the-art on cone beam CT imaging for preoperative planning of implant placement. Clin Oral Investig 2006;10:1–7.
- [56] Schulze D, Blessmann M, Pohlenz P, Wagner KW, Heiland M. Diagnostic criteria for the detection of mandibular osteomyelitis using cone-beam computed tomography. Dentomaxillofac Radiol 2006;35:232–5.
- [57] Morrison WB, Schweitzer ME, Bock GW, Mitchell DG, Hume EL, Pathria MN, Resnick D. Diagnosis of osteomyelitis: utility of fat-suppressed contrast-enhanced MR imaging. Radiology 1993;189:251–7.
- [58] Shane E, Goldring S, Christakos S, Drezner M, Eisman J, Silverman S, Pendrys D. Osteonecrosis of the jaw: more research needed. J Bone Miner Res 2006;21:1503–5.
- [59] AAE Special Committee on Bisphosphonates, editor. Endodontic implications of bisphosphonate-associated osteonecrosis of the jaws. Chicago, IL: American Association of Endodontists; 2006.
- [60] American College of Rheumatology, editor. Bisphosphonate-associated osteonecrosis of the jaw. Atlanta, GA: American College of Rheumatology; 2006.